
 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

The Economy, Housing and the Arts 
Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Agenda 

 

Tuesday 1 October 2019 at 7.00 pm 
Meeting Room 2 (2nd Floor) - 3 Shortlands, Hammersmith, W6 8DA 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration Opposition 

Councillor Rory Vaughan (Chair) 
Councillor Rowan Ree 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg 
 

Councillor Adronie Alford 

 
 

 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Charles Francis 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776 672945 
 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Public Notice 
Members of the press and public are welcome to attend this and all other Council 
meetings. Should exempt information need to be discussed the committee will pass 
a resolution requiring members of the press and public to leave. 
 
Agendas are available at: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, along with disabled access to the 
building. 
 

Date Issued: 23 September 2019 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees


 

  

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

The Economy, Housing and the Arts 
Policy and Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
 

1 October 2019 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

   

3.   MINUTES  4 - 13 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2019. 
 

 

4.   A LONG-TERM REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE MODEL FOR 
HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM  
 
This report sets out the framework and timetable for the procurement, 
implementation and mobilisation of the long-term model for repairs and 
maintenance service. A procurement strategy will be considered by 
Cabinet on 7 October 2019. 
 

14 - 23 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
The Economy, Housing and the Arts Policy 

and Accountability Committee 
Minutes 

 
Wednesday 12 June 2019 

 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Rory Vaughan (Chair), Ann Rosenberg,  
Rowan Ree and Adronie Alford 
 

Other Councillors: Councillor Lisa Homan 
 
Officers: Mark Meehan (Chief Housing Officer), Richard Buckley (Assistant 
Director of Property and Compliance), David McNulty (Assistant Director 
Operations) and Labab Labub (Partnership Manager and Strategy, Housing) 
 
Others:  Chris Took (Fire Safety Action Resident Group) FRAG and Chair of 
Charecroft Tenants and Residents Association. 
 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Alan De’Ath and  
Andrew Jones. 
 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

3. MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 26 March 2019 were agreed as an 
accurate record subject to the amendment being made to the spelling of the 
name Sylvain Malburet (Bush Theatre). 
 
The Chair highlighted that there were two outstanding action points, namely: i) 
details about who and what the competencies were of the Panel Members for 
the Arts Commission and ii) details of whether the digital inclusion work 
included Sheltered Housing. The clerk was asked to pursue these points 
outside the meeting. 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
4. FIRE SAFETY UPDATE 

 
Mark Meehan, Chief Housing Officer introduced the report which provided an 
update on the work undertaken to improve fire safety across Council Housing. 
 
Richard Buckley, Assistant Director of Property and Compliance informed 
the Committee, that to ensure the delivery of fire safety works was 
coordinated and was as effective as possible, the Council had developed a 
clear strategic approach to improving fire safety. 
 
The three main strands of strategy were: 

 H&F Fire Safety Plus 

 Compliance Based Asset Management Strategy 

 The Hackitt Review 

H&F Fire Safety Plus 
Richard Buckley explained that in October 2017, the Council launched Fire 
Safety Plus. This committed the Council to achieving the highest possible 
standard of fire safety across its housing stock. Fire Safety Plus made 
available £20 million of capital funding for fire safety 
testing and capital works which was agreed by Full Council on 18 October 
2017.   
  
It set out the Council’s commitment to:   

 Do more than the minimum requirement to keep residents safe.  

 Ensure that homes across Hammersmith and Fulham were safe and 
compliant.  

 Undertake a thorough review of fire safety in all communal blocks.  

 Organise a programme of work to install new fire doors, enhanced fire-
fighting equipment, facilities and automated detection.  

  
The Committee noted that the Council was committed not to charge 
leaseholders for fire safety work.   
  
 
Compliance Based Asset Management Strategy  
The Committee were informed that in addition to the work that emerged from 
Fire Safety Plus, the next stage was to gain approval for a compliance-
based Asset Management Strategy. This set out the Council’s commitment to 
achieve a compliance-based asset management approach to its housing 
stock and through its capital programme, deliver a higher standard of fire 
safety and compliance.   
  
The Hackitt Review  
Underpinning the Council’s approach was the Government’s Hackitt Review. 
The key strategic aims were incorporated into the Council’s Asset 
Management Strategy. The adoption of the recommendations in the Hackitt 
Review will ensure the Council manages housing in line with best practice.   

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 

The key themes of the review were:  
 Clear roles and responsibilities to ensure a stronger focus on safety.  
 Enhanced layers of fire safety for buildings 10 storeys and above. 
 Clear governance and record keeping of investment decisions.  
 Robust record keeping of all changes made to detailed plans.  
 Clear rights and obligations for residents to ensure fire compliance  

 
Examples of Action already taken 

Richard Buckley highlighted a number of the actions which had already been 
taken. These included: 
Specialised Teams -The Economy Directorate has put in place specialised 
teams with fire and associated systems expertise to undertake fire risk 
assessment, fire incident investigation, training, fire engineering solution, 
testing and maintenance and to deliver an extensive work programme of fire 
safety capital works. 
Firefighting Lifts - As part of H&F lift programme, all future replacement lifts 
will be upgraded to firefighting standard, within the constraints of the existing 
building fabric. Forty are tabled to be installed over the next 36 months.  
FD60 Doors – An extensive fire door enhancement programme has been 
commissioned. Two contractors will start to deliver from Autumn 2019, over 
4,000 doors to blocks of 10 or more storeys, sheltered homes, hostels and 
premises identified through fire risk assessment. H&F has committed to install 
doors with 60 minute fire integrity in blocks of 6 or more storeys and 30 
minutes in other blocks as identified through its fire risk assessment 
programme.   
Installation of dry risers - The programme includes the installation of 19 dry 
risers to improve firefighting across several blocks. In blocks of 10 or more 
storeys, fire doors to the firefighting shaft/protected stair are to also be 
upgraded.  
Emergency Lighting - The LED programme approved by Cabinet to 
commence in early 2020 will include the upgrade of emergency lighting in 
communal spaces in estates. In addition, an improvement and installation 
programme of lightning conductors is on-going.  
Automated smoke control - In February, the automated smoke control system 
in Jepson House (18 storeys) was upgraded following damage to the system.  
Continuous Maintenance and Testing - Completed to industry best practice is 
a key component of the Council’s fire safety initiative. The Council service and 
certify annually over 11,000 gas appliances, inspect 100s of hardwired 
electrical systems, test over 80 dry/wet risers and smoke control systems and 
over 7,700 emergency lights.  
Amnesty for Leaseholders - H&F gave an amnesty for leaseholders who had 
undertaken alterations without permission to their property that placed them 
and neighbours at potential risk in the event of a fire. To date, around 
30 leasehold properties have come forward. Fire safety and structural 
engineers and buildings surveyors have put forward remedial plans, which are 
now in the design and implementation stage.  
 
 
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Engagement with Residents and LFB 
Listening to residents FRAG - Frequent meetings, at least monthly, are held 
with residents’ fire safety plus advisory group, FRAG. FRAG have met on 17 
occasions to date. The group provide invaluable feedback and contributions to 
the fire safety programme. Working with residents and tenants is a key tenet 
of the Hackitt recommendations and H&F’s commitment to work with 
residents.  
Working with LFB  
Officers meet with LFB bi-monthly to exchange local intelligence on fire safety 
programme, lift entrapment, fire incidents and initiatives around vulnerable 
persons. A recent initiative included a programme of training of the LFB 
on how Council lifts work and how to release persons in an emergency.  
 
Chris Took, Chair of the Charecroft Estate FRAG & TRA, provided an 
overview of the groups’ activities to date. He explained that clear lines of 
communication were paramount to ensure that residents understood what 
action was being taken and why.  It was noted that for most residents living in 
tower blocks, their overriding concern was security rather than fire safety.  
Chris Took highlighted that a bug bear for residents was the modification of 
any internal doors which invalidated them as fire doors. He explained that one 
of his roles was to liaise with residents to ensure they notified the Council if 
keys were lost. Other notable issues which were flagged included: the risk 
posed by mobility scooters to access and egress routes, ineffectual signage, 
the fire risk posed by hoarding and the suitability of deploying sprinklers in 
some circumstances.  
 
Councillor Lisa Homan thanked Chris Took and other residents for their work 
to improve fire safety across Council Housing. It was highlighted that it was 
important to involve those residents which lived in Council accommodation, 
including tower blocks, as they were most conversant with the local issues. 
 
Councillor Rowan Ree asked Chris Took how he had achieved a 25% 
response rate to a questionnaire the FRAG (Fire Safety Action Resident 
Group) had circulated. In response, Chris Took explained that since the fire at 
Shepherds Court, the FRAG and Council had worked closely together and 
windows, lifts and fire doors had been replaced. This continued interaction 
with residents, whilst the work was ongoing, had enabled the FRAG to 
engage with residents successfully. 
 
Councillor Rowan Ree asked what the main form of communication was 
between the FRAG and residents. Chris Took explained that the FRAG had 
tried digital engagement with limited success and word of mouth tended to be 
most effective. It was noted that 40 to 50 residents sometimes attended TRA 
meetings. 
 
Councillor Rowan Ree asked whether officers sent out leaflets on the Fire 
Safety Strategy to residents. In response, Richard Buckley confirmed that the 
Council had established a Fire Safety Working Group which publicised news 
letters and events. He explained that due to the volume of ongoing works, it 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

tended to be a question of trying to strike a balance between too much 
information and not enough. Richard Buckley confirmed that if the Council 
was conducting specific works, then the newsletter targeted these. In addition, 
the Council also raised these works with TRAs and resident’s groups. 
Councillor Lisa Homan highlighted that last summer, an illegal BBQ had been 
held on a balcony in Emlyn Gardens, and in these instances, all blocks 
received a letter reminding residents of their terms of their tenancies. 
 
Councillor Rowan Ree asked officers, if fire drills were conducted in large 
Council housing blocks. In response, Richard Buckley confirmed that while it 
was impractical to evacuate entire blocks of residents, fire wardens tested 
evacuation procedures every 6 months in partnership with the London Fire 
Brigade. 
 
Councillor Adronie Alford confirmed the Fire Safety Plus scheme was an 
excellent initiative and agreed it was a good idea that kitchen doors were 
being upgraded across high rise blocks. She asked whether the phasing and 
introduction of these works involved tenants and leaseholders. In response, 
Richard Buckley confirmed that the Council took steps to ensure both parties  
were involved in the process. 
 
Councillor Adrione Alford asked if leaseholders were being charged for the 
Fire Safety Plus works. In response, Councillor Lisa Homan confirmed that 
residents were not being charged and the Council had an amnesty in place at 
present but this could not last indefinitely.  Talking about the safety aspects of 
renting within the private rented sector, Councillor Adrione Alford asked 
officers about the number of absentee landlords in the borough and how 
these were found. In response, Richard Buckley explained that the Council 
relied on local intelligence as well as officers working across service 
departments to track these down. 
 
In relation to properties in Riverside Gardens, Councillor Adrione Alford asked 
how the Council enforced the requirement that gas cookers were installed by 
professionals. In response, Richard Buckley drew the Committees’ attention 
to the Hackitt recommendations and the requirement that buildings of shared 
occupancy needed to ensure they met the requisite compartmentalisation 
standards and this needed to be tested by the Council. Mr Labub (Partnership 
Manager and Strategy, Housing) also confirmed that the standards of a 
particular property would also come to light when a leaseholder came to sell 
their property and conveyancing was conducted. Mark Meehan (Chief 
Housing Officer) explained that as part of the Fire Safety Plus scheme, the 
Council was in the process of addressing defective kitchen equipment in 
council properties (thereby reducing the fire risk posed by old equipment). As 
a result, tenants were being provided with new fridges, freezers, tumble 
dryers and microwaves free of charge under the scheme. 
 
Commenting on the requirement of compartmentalisation, the Chair observed 
that it looked like a complicated process and he asked how easy it would be 
to maintain in the future. Richard Buckley explained that most aspects of 
compartmentalisation would be covered by service conduits (i.e. electricity or 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

gas) but that it was not an easy task which was why it was a 3-year 
programme. The Chair asked about the implications of the process and if this 
meant that leaseholders would still be able to update their properties and 
install further wiring without breaching compartmentalisation regulations. 
Commenting on the  Grenfell fire, Chris Took explained that the fire had not 
spread due to a lack of compartmentalisation but a combination of other 
factors. 
 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg commented that internal fire doors appeared to be 
optional in some cases, and in her view, sprinkler systems should be 
mandatory in kitchens. She asked if the technology allowed for sprinkler 
systems to be activated when a certain temperature level had been exceeded. 
In response, Richard Buckley explained that if the property was a new 
building over 30 metres high, then sprinkler systems were a mandatory 
requirement. These were designed to trigger when the temperature exceeded 
68 degrees Centrigrade. However, sprinkler systems were not designed to be 
a silver bullet and could not cope with multiple fires. The Committee noted 
that retro fitting these to old buildings was often a complex and costly 
exercise. Often the most effective fire prevention solutions lay in multiple 
prevention systems operating in tandem (fire doors, compartmentalisation and 
portable fire suppression systems) rather than sprinkler systems. 
 
The Chair asked apart from where it was requirement, if there was any 
particular mix of property where sprinklers were a good enhancement and 
where they could work effectively. Richard Buckley confirmed that feasibility 
studies were being conducted, however, Mark Meehan explained that 
sprinklers would not work everywhere. 
 
Chris Took explained that people that did not live in tower blocks, should 
exercise caution about sprinkler systems and they should not be seen as a 
panacea. Malfunctions or even small kitchen fires could activate systems 
which could then cause their own problems like flooding. The disruption 
caused by repairs and redecoration also needed to be considered. 
 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg asked what the choice was if sprinkler systems 
were not installed in tower blocks. In response, Chris Took explained that 
before the Grenfell tragedy, the perception was that tower blocks were safe. 
He stated that it would be wrong to treat every building as a potential Grenfell 
Tower. There were finite resources to consider, as well as the feelings of 
some residents which found the prolonged focus on tower blocks upsetting in 
the aftermath of the tragedy. 
 
Councillor Lisa Homan confirmed that sprinkler systems were still being 
considered but further resident engagement was required. On balance, the 
deployment of sprinkler systems, might, in many cases, be considered an 
over-reaction given that other safety measures and enhancements could be 
introduced which would avoid the complex retrofitting of buildings. 
 
A member of the public who attended the meeting aired concerns about how 
residents were consulted in blocks were there was no TRA and also the 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

replacement of old fire doors which had been invalidated by internal 
modifications. In response, Richard Buckley confirmed that the Fire Door 
replacement programme had not started yet, but when it did, 90% of all fire 
doors in sheltered housing would be replaced on a like for like basis. Richard 
Buckley confirmed that as the Council took action with residents rather than 
doing things to them, the Council would be working with residents to ensure 
the correct type and colour of door was installed by certified tradesmen. 
 
A member of the public asked whether the lifts installed at Lancaster Court 
were firefighting lifts. Richard Buckley confirmed he would check and inform 
the resident outside the meeting. 
 

Action – Richard Buckley to check whether firefighting lifts were 
installed at Lancaster Court. 

Outside the meeting, Richard confirmed that they are. 
 
In relation to the installation of smoke and fire detectors, the Chair asked if 
there had been any reported issues of these having been set off if they were 
very sensitive. In response, Richard Buckley explained that heat detectors, 
rather than smoke detectors were used in kitchens and this sensitivity was 
pre-set at 58 degrees Centigrade .  
 
Concluding the item, the Chair noted that the Fire Safety Plus scheme would 
be rolled out over the next few years, working in partnership with FRAGs and 
residents’ groups. The Chair asked when progress would be reviewed to 
ensure delivery and value for money was achieved.  
 
In response, Richard Buckley confirmed that most aspects of the programme 
were not scheduled to start until the autumn of 2019 and in terms of 
monitoring progress, officers would be meeting with Councillor Homan every 2 
weeks to ensure she was kept appraised and updated. David McNulty also 
confirmed that the Asset Management Programme, included an annual 
update which provided details of the programme and its costs. The Chair 
asked officers to ensure an update was provided to the Committee in a year’s 
time. 
 
Action – Richard Buckley to ensure an update report on Fire Safety was 

provided to PAC in a year’s time. 
 
The Chair thanked officers for the update and commented that the Fire Safety 
Plus scheme was a good example of the Council working with residents. It 
was noted that a further update would be provided in a year’s time and that a 
thorough and comprehensive enhancement to fire safety capabilities was 
under way. 
 

Action – Charles Francis to circulate the Fire Safety Plus PowerPoint 
presentation to the Committee outside the meeting. 

 
 
RESOLVED 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

That the Committee reviewed and commented on the report. 
 
That officers provide a further update later in the year. 
 
 

5. AFFORDABLE HOUSING DELIVERY STRATEGY – VERBAL UPDATE 
 
Labab Labub (Partnership Manager and Strategy, Housing) provided a 
presentation which set out the current work train and the emerging strategy. 
Mr Labub explained the change in council policy from the a fiscally prudent 
approach of paying down debt to being emphasizing growth and delivery of 
affordable housing while being ruthlessly financially efficient. 
 
Mr Labub set out the Council’s strategic approach to development through 
two main routes; 
 

1. The Asset and Growth Strategy  

This involved reviewing Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and General Fund 
land to develop a better understanding of the opportunities from the Council’s 
estate and then consider the best delivery routes to maximise the benefit for 
the Council. 
 

2. The Schools Renewal Programme  

This programme centred on developing modern, fit for purpose schools as 
provide housing through better use of the schools’ estate. The workstream 
involved Public Service Reform, Social Services and Housing. 
 
Councillor Ann Rosenberg asked about the Watermeadow Court demolition in 
2019 and what the latest information was. In response, Mr Labub explained 
that the Council was looking at a revised date for this to take place and he 
would provide the Committee with some revised information outside the 
meeting. 
 

Action: Mr Labub to provide the Committee with further information 
about the timetable for demolition of Water Meadow Water Court. 

 
Councillor Adronie Alford asked about the tenure breakdown of Edith 
Summerskill House and whether the intention was for the development only to 
be used as a key worker scheme. In response, Mr Labub explained that he 
would be able to provide a breakdown of the tenure outside the meeting. 
 

Action: Mr Labub to provide the Committee with further information 
about the breakdown of tenure at Edith Summerskill House  

 
Discussing the innovative ways new housing could be delivered, Councillor 
Rowan Ree noted that a recent housing development had incorporated a 
school at ground level, with flats directly above the school. While new thinking 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

was commended, he asked about the safeguarding implications for these 
types of development.  
 
In response, Mr Labub explained that schools were designed in consultation 
with the schools’ governors and access and egress rights were considered at 
length during the design consultation phases. Asking a further question, 
Councillor Rowan Ree enquired how many market rent properties were in the 
pipeline. In response, Mr Labub explained this information could be provided 
outside the meeting. 
 

Action: Mr Labub to provide details on the number of market rent 
properties were scheduled to be built on 19/20. 

 
Concluding the item, the Chair explained there were a number of market rent 
schemes that were on site, apart from those developments which were multi-
phase. Mr Labub confirmed that the Housing Department were looking to 
identify further sites in the borough which could potentially be used for a 
further 800 units of affordable housing. The Chair stated that the 
Administrations’ aim was to deliver 1500 additional units over the next 5 years 
and he welcomed the initiatives officers were pursuing in relation to S106 
agreements and their links to employment opportunities and apprenticeships. 
 
Action: That officers provide a further update on The Affordable Housing 

Strategy later in the 19/20 municipal year. 
 
 
RESOLVED 
That the Committee reviewed and commented on the report. 
 
That officers provide a further update later in the year. 
 
 
 

5. WORK PROGRAMMING 2018/19 
 
The Chair introduced the item and confirmed that the Committee would 
examine Sheltered Housing at its September 2019 meeting and the Repairs 
Service would be examined later in the year. 
  
 
 

 
  
 Meeting started: 

 
7.00 pm 

Meeting ended: 9.04 pm 
 

Chair   

 
 

Contact officer: Charles Francis 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2062 
 E-mail: charles.francis@lbhf.gov.uk 

Page 12



London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
The Economy Housing and the Arts Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
 

01 October 2019 
 

 

A LONG-TERM REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE MODEL FOR HAMMERSMITH 
AND FULHAM 
 

Report: Open  
 

Classification: For discussion.  
Key decision: No  
 

Wards Affected:  All 
 

Accountable Director: Jo Rowlands – Strategic Director for The Economy 
 

Report Author:  
David McNulty 
Assistant Director, Operations 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 07867 160527 
E-mail: david.mcnulty@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

This report along with the exempt Procurement Strategy and associated 
recommendations will be considered by Cabinet at it meeting on the 7 October 
2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



 
 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
1.1 The Council has made significant progress in transforming its housing repairs 

since the launch of the new repairs model in April 2019. This model is made 
up of H&F Maintenance which undertakes communal repairs, supported a 
dedicated in-house Customer Service Centre, three general repairs providers 
based in the north, centre and south of the borough and specialist providers 
(for gas, electric and asbestos) across the borough.   
 

1.2 These major changes have successfully operated since April 2019. The 
Council has maximised the opportunity to improve the quality of the service 
and confidence of residents in the delivery of repairs services. The 
implemented model has provided insight and learning from the six-months of 
operation to refine the model and base the long-term procurement.  

 
1.3 This report sets out the framework and timetable for the procurement, 

implementation and mobilisation of the long-term model for repairs and 
maintenance service. A procurement strategy will be considered by cabinet 07 
October 2019.   

 
1.4 The proposed repairs and maintenance model is made-up of a number of 

interconnected services. This report sets out how the in house and externally 
delivered contracts will continue to be developed and improved. 
 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1 That the Economy, Housing and the Arts Policy & Accountability 

Committee note the report and provide comments to Cabinet as 
appropriate. 

 
 
3. Strategic context – investing in our assets  
 
3.1 A series of reports presented to Cabinet over the course of 2019 that 

collectively form our overall programme to invest in and improve resident 
homes, our asset base and quality of housing stock and provision. These are:  

 

 Details of the interim housing repairs delivery model (February 2019) 
set out our ambition and plan to establish an interim repairs model that 
would enable the Council to improve service delivery to residents and 
gather insight and learning from operational delivery of the new model to 
inform the procurement of the model over the medium term. 

 Costs of the interim housing repairs model (March 2019) set out our 
plans for how the interim model would be funded and budgeted, putting in 
place the appropriate contract and budget arrangements to give the 
Council 12 plus 3 months to achieve the goals outlined in the February 
Cabinet report. 

Page 14



 Asset Management and Compliance Strategy and Capital Programme 
(July 2019) set out our 4-year asset improvement plan for improvement 
out asset base, with a focus on safety and improvement works delivering 
the Council’s Fire Safety Plus programme. 

 
Our vision for Repairs and Maintenance services 

3.2 Our repairs and maintenance service provide critically needed and valued 
services to residents. It sits at the heart of our approach to maintaining and 
improving housing quality, and the Council has a duty to ensure residents are 
safe and enjoy a good standard of living. 

3.3  The Hammersmith and Fulham Business Plan represents the Council’s offer 
to its residents and communities for the administration and has guided the 
Council's strategy and vision for repairs and maintenance services. The 
proposals outlined in this report align with our core principles as follows: 

 

 Building Shared Prosperity: Designing and delivering a high-quality, 

responsive and value for money repairs and maintenance service will 

ensure that the Council’s assets are invested in and maintained. Good 

quality provision of repairs services will ensure residents feel confident and 

supported. We will maximise the financial and social return on investment 

of the model by incentivising providers to put forward proposals that 

deliver against our key social outcomes, maximising local employment, 

creating opportunities for local businesses to deliver repairs services and 

identifying apprenticeship opportunities. 

 Creating a compassionate Council: Residents rightfully expect to live in 

high-quality, well-maintained accommodation. The Council’s commitment 

to establishing a high-quality safe repairs and maintenance service is an 

important way of ensuring this. When something goes wrong in one of our 

properties, this is often when our residents and tenants need our support 

the most. We will ensure our repairs service is responsive and 

personalised to meet needs. 

 Doing things with residents and not to them: Residents have a 

significant stake in the quality of repairs and maintenance services. They 

have informed us repairs and maintenance services are important to them 

and their experience of living in H&F managed homes. We are keen to 

invest in a high-quality customer experience for all tenants and residents 

accessing our repairs service and have invested in an in-house customer 

service centre to support this commitment.  

 Being ruthlessly financially efficient: Investment in repairs and 

maintenance services represents value for money as timely and early 

repairs and maintenance work can reduce the need for costly and length 

capital investment/stock refurbishment replacement programmes. Long-

term recommissioning of repairs represents an excellent opportunity to 

drive commercial value for money through offering providers cross-cutting 

opportunities to provide a range of repairs and maintenance services. 

 Taking pride in Hammersmith and Fulham: Investing in our housing 

stock is a key element of demonstrating our pride in Hammersmith and 

Page 15



Fulham. A quality repairs and maintenance service will ensure residents 

can live in properties they are proud of, and the Council is investing in an 

estate residents can take pride in. The communal repairs programme 

undertaken by H&F Maintenance which has received positive feedback. 

 

3.4  The Council is committed to providing a repairs and maintenance service that 
is high-quality, efficient and responsive to the needs of our residents. Our 
residents are a key partner in developing our vision for repairs services and 
are engaged in the future model. As a result of this engagement, we have 
identified the following key priorities for the long-term model, which will deliver 
against the administration’s manifesto promises: 

 

 Every repair should be completed to a ‘quality-performance’ standard, 

whether delivered by the Council directly or providers  

 Repairs and maintenance Services should represent good value for 

money to residents 

 Every resident should be aware of the repairs service, how to access it, 

and how it should work for them. This is captured in the resident 

handbooks, which will be shared with every resident 

 The Council should get the best social return on its investment in repairs 

services, including identifying opportunities for young people and local 

businesses to be a part of the long-term solution 

 Repairs and maintenance services should be sensitive and personalised 

around the needs of every tenant, ensuring every repair takes account of 

each resident’s individual circumstances and requirements 

 The Council should ensure the long-term model is as flexible as possible, 

ensuring repairs and maintenance service can develop over time. 

 
The interim model 

3.5 The interim repairs solution was put in place following the termination of the 
Mitie contract. The model and budget was approved by Cabinet in March 
2019 and that a further report to Cabinet would set out the proposed long-
term model and procurement. The interim model was developed, procured 
and put into operation in six months. The priority was to minimise the risk of 
service failure and to establish some core principles for the long-term 
procurement. The second phase was to be delivered in a 12 to 15-month 
timeframe and include as much learning as possible from the interim solution. 

 
3.6 In considering the long-term options it is important to reflect on the successes, 

problems and issues from the set up and operation of the interim solution. It 
was inevitable given the short timescale (6 months) for putting in place the 
interim solution that there would areas for revision, refinement and potentially 
rethinking. The following highlights the current position: 

 
Overview 

3.7 General repairs provision: the procurement of three geographically based 
general repairs contractors has worked well. Competition between the 
contractors is positive and delivery improved from the previous arrangements. 

Page 16



To drive improvement, we are now able to benchmark and compare the 
service provided to each of the geographical areas. There is greater 
transparency of provision and performance of general repairs services, and 
contract management arrangements are significantly improved as a result of 
this change. Enhanced clienting has improved service delivery, with a greater 
focus on performance and quality. The Council has gathered new insight into 
the value for money of delivery as a result of comparing costs, volumes 
between areas, will mean the Council is well-placed to procure the service.  
 
Early performance highlights 
It is too early to fully assess the major changes to the repairs service as these 
have only been operational since April 2019. However, there are some 
encouraging areas of performance from the first four months of operation this 
includes:  
 

 over 95% of all jobs ordered are now completed on the first visit,  

 99% of our highest priority jobs (24hr target) are completed within target,  

 100% of forward planned repairs are completed within our targets,  

 97% of our non-emergency jobs are completed within our targets.  
 
This performance is particularly impressive given the significant amount of 
legacy work presented to the service since its inception. Since starting we 
have received 28,122 jobs (Apr-Jul 19), a significantly higher number of jobs 
than anticipated based on data received from the previous contractor. 
 
Conclusion: The positive feedback received and improved transparency and 
performance resulting from the interim model supports retaining three general 
geographical repairs contractors in the long-term model. In addition, with the 
ongoing uncertainty and implications arising from the negotiations of the UK’s 
exit from the European Union, there are ongoing and significant risks of 
provider failure. This model builds in resilience to provider failure, and we will 
ensure contracts allow for any of the three providers to cover other areas in 
the event of an unexpected contract termination.  

 
3.8 Hammersmith and Fulham Maintenance: the Council’s newly formed in-

house service team has delivered on its initial expectations and has enabled 
the Council, for the first time, to invest in a high-quality and responsive 
communal repairs programme. Resident feedback on the quality of the 
service provided by this team is positive. Its flexibility means it is adding value 
by delivering handyperson services to sheltered housing, a step-change in 
communal repairs, estate inspections follow-on works, complex repairs and 
actions identified from Fire Risk Assessment works.  
 
Early performance highlights 

 H&F Maintenance has delivered over 4,200 repairs from April to July. 

 It was accredited under the National Inspection Council for Electrical 
Installation Contracting (NICEIC),  

 It is seeking further professional accreditation to undertake key elements 
of our specialist inspection and specialist work programmes.  

 The service has delivered a significant amount of legacy work.  

Page 17



 
These developments represent an excellent opportunity to demonstrate the 
value of in-house delivery and the benefits to residents this can bring. 
 
Conclusion: While the service is newly formed, the development and future 
growth of H&F Maintenance needs to happen in a phased way with its role 
expanding in line with the growth in its potential capacity and capability. For 
this reason, the various services being procured will have sufficient contract 
flexibility to allow specific additional services and functions to be undertaken 
by H&F Maintenance over time. A business plan for the service is being 
developed as to how it will deliver a wider offer across housing and estates, in 
line with the long-term model. There is scope to extend beyond its core focus, 
the wider delivery of services to estates, and elements of the wider repairs 
and maintenance model. There is a specific opportunity to explore providing 
the wider asset management support services across the Council, particularly 
facilities management services.  

 
3.9 Customer Service Centre (CSC): The implementation of the in-house CSC 

represents a significant achievement. It enables full visibility and control of 
customer experience across repairs services. Residents have responded 
positively to this at a recent ‘Residents Voice’ and ‘Summer Roadshows’, that 
the customer service centre is responsive and helpful and understanding a 
repair. The in-house customer service centre provides employment 
opportunities to staff internally and residents. Approval of the long-term 
approach to repairs provides a platform for continuing to develop a high-
quality customer experience for all residents contacting housing services.  

 
 Early performance highlights 

 90% of residents find customer service operatives helpful.  

 The call-back function has been positively received by residents 

 Over 30 compliments have been made about the service 
 
Conclusion: The continuous review of the service is showing benefits with 
residents reporting an improved customer experience, particularly on the end-
to-end completion of repairs jobs. Residents have fed-back the future repairs 
service should be with an on-going commitment from the Council to manage 
excellent customer contact. Residents are keen to see the Council pilot new 
ways of contacting the call-centre, ranging from permanently embedding the 
call-back function and investing in new ways of reporting repair enquiries. We 
are actively developing digital reporting applications which will be mobile 
accessible to all residents, online reporting forms and tools, expanding our e-
mail contact offer and piloting the use of reminder texts. The customer service 
centre is exploring opportunities to pilot an extension of opening hours to 
support periods of significant demand, such as evenings and weekends. 
These elements of resident input and feedback provide opportunities that are 
being actively explored by the customer service centre business plan. 

 
3.10 Specialist providers: Specialist contracts were put in place to ensure the 

Council meets its health and safety compliance priorities. Having individual 
contracts in place for individual specialist services provides the Council 

Page 18



greater assurance and oversight of compliance. These services are being 
reviewed to capture learning as well as wider best practice.  
 
Early performance highlights 
We’ve seen significant improvements in the performance of our specialist 
repairs contracts.  

 100% LGSR annual certification.  

 98% of our priority gas repairs (24hr) are completed within target. 

 99% of non-emergency gas jobs have been completed within our targets. 

 92% of gas repair jobs are now completed within one visit. 

 100% of our urgent electrical door entry repair jobs have been completed 
within 24 hours.  

 
These achievements are set against a backdrop of significant legacy demand. 
 
Conclusion: The broad direction of specialist contractors will be maintained 
for the long-term. The list of services to be procured is set out in (appendix 1) 
to this report. Where frameworks were used under the interim model and had 
generic specifications these will be rewritten to LBHF requirements. 
Opportunities to get best value from the procurement process by combining or 
re-defining the service structure are now included in the procurement strategy.  
 

3.11  Commercial model: The simplified arrangements of the higher repair limit 
and average void cost is easier to manage in the interim model has allowed 
Council staff to focus on getting the new team in place and the model 
mobilised. Initial analysis indicates over the course of 5-year contracts, this 
will result in reduced costs of provision which can be re-invested in stock. This 
approach has put the focus back on the speed and quality or delivery, 
ensuring that financial controls are still in place for the most costly and 
complex repair jobs. The costs of the new model are in line with expectations 
however number of jobs being raised higher than anticipated. Monthly 
contract meetings are taking place with all suppliers, which is providing the 
opportunity to resolve issues and drive improvements in service.  
 
Conclusion: The simplified model and strengthened contract management 
has improved the commercial governance of repairs spend.  The overall costs 
of the model are expected to be in line with expectations. However, it is too 
early to determine accurate spend level as the number of jobs raised is higher 
than forecast. Work is underway to project the future costs of the long-term 
service.  
 

3.12 Technology and systems: A number of key interim system solutions were 
implemented to facilitate the interim model. The move from a single provider, 
to a model of over 20 contractors, an in-house service team and a completely 
new in-house customer service centre was a significant challenge for ICT. 
There are two main elements of the future programme to be delivered, a) the 
ongoing improvement and implementation of the system architecture put in 
place to support the interim model, and b) the eventual change to be brought 
about when a new Integrated Housing Management System is implemented. 
 

Page 19



Conclusion: The implementation plan for these changes is driven by two 
considerations. Firstly, the Council is currently commissioning an integrated 
housing management system (agreed by July Cabinet), which is running 
concurrently to this process, but will be mobilised at a later date to the 
implementation of the repairs and maintenance model. This means the interim 
systems and technology arrangements in place currently will need to be 
‘rolled over’ into the long-term model. Once the new integrated housing 
management system is implemented, this will result in a change to provider’s 
systems and processes to integrate. Appropriate commercial terms are built 
into specifications across all lots, that make clear to providers that systems 
change and integration will be managed in two phases and costs of this 
should be factored in by providers. The intention being to ensure minimal 
future commercial negotiation between the Council and providers to 
implement systems changes. The dependency between this project and the 
integrated housing management system will be closely managed. 
 

3.13 Budgets, Costs and the Commercial Model  
  
Revenue budget: Learning from the interim model has highlighted the 
previous contract for the delivery of repairs and maintenance likely 
represented an underinvestment in the Council assets with a low specification 
for key parts of the service under the previous contract. This is evidenced by 
the significant amount of new repairs requests experienced by the service on 
the launch of the new model. In addition, a higher quality standard for voids is 
being developed for the future model. The existing standard under the old 
service was very low. This has led to the average number of repairs against 
newly let properties being above what would normally be expected. There are 
also a higher number of complaints from tenants who move into newly let 
properties. Developing the specification so that it presents an opportunity to 
invest in the stock and improve resident satisfaction should reduce the 
number of responsive repairs and reduce reactive costs.  
 
The Council has made proactive policy decisions to invest in repairs and 
maintenance services. Specifically, the decision to invest in an in-house 
customer service centre, the creation of H&F Maintenance to deliver a new 
communal repairs programme, and a greater focus on compliance works 
delivered through specialist contractors.  
 
Work is underway to model the future projected long-term costs of repairs and 
maintenance model. The next phase of the programme will focus on 
establishing a) what the full first-year of demand, work and requests are, 
building in the work we know is required to bring our buildings back to a 
baseline of maintenance and compliance, b) driving as much commercial and 
financial value through the competition with negotiation process to ensure as 
much funding made available for repairs and maintenance is spent improving 
the quality of housing, and c) building a true 5-year budget model for the 
service to maximise investment in a high-quality repairs and maintenance 
service. This will be incorporated into the Council’s HRA business and 
financial plan and the 2020/21 budget for the 2020/21 financial year.  

 

Page 20



3.14 Competition with negotiation (CPN): the proposed procurement approach 
is Competition with Negotiation, is preferred owing to the complexity of the 
contracts being procured. This is a restricted procedure to allow negotiations 
to improve the quality of the contracts while providing value for money. The 
timeline will comprise a pre-qualification selection whereby the Council only 
takes forward bids from companies that pass compliance against minimum 
standards.  Tenders from only compliant bids will be evaluated against quality 
and price criteria, with a further stage of negotiation if necessary. 

 
The negotiation can only be on bidders’ tenders to improve their content. It is 
possible some of the lots will move straight to award without negotiation 
where a bid clearly provides the best value and service levels. The Council 
has previously used this approach on its leisure service contracts.   

 
 
4. NEXT STEPS 
 
4.1 Procure long-term contractors to work alongside the new in-house service 

from July 2020. These contractors will undertake: 
 

 Responsive repairs and voids (three contractors by region) 

 Complex Works 

 Gas (including Landlord Gas Safety Checks) 

 Electrical (including Electrical Installation Condition Reports) 

 Asbestos removal 
 
4.2 Procure a range of required services to support the planned works and 

compliance workstreams and the customer service centre, including: 
 

 Asbestos Surveyors (must be separate from asbestos removals) 

 Out of Hours Call Handling 

 Materials and Goods 
 
4.3      Procure solutions to the H&F Maintenance’s goods and fleet requirements. 
 
 
5. CONSULTATION 

 
5.1 Regular consultation and discussion on the shape of the repairs model has 

taken place through existing resident forums. The resident voice meeting in 
July focussed exclusively on resident feedback on the interim repairs model, 
attend by over 40 residents. This was followed up in the Summer of 2019 with 
15 road show events taking place across the borough, this asked residents for 
their views on the new repairs service. Views were also captured at a number 
of resident consultation events in the autumn 2018 which informed the interim 
model. The Repairs Working Group and Housing Reps Forums have also 
regularly been updated on the new repairs model. All of these views were 
possible will help shape the specification of the new contracts. 

 

Page 21



5.2 In line with the Council’s commitment to work with residents it is proposed in 
the procurement strategy to directly involve residents in the evaluation of the 
repairs bids received. Residents will be from residents already engaged 
through existing forums. A training programme will be put in place for any 
resident who takes part. 

 
5.3 The Council will consult with residents and undertake statutory consultation 

with leaseholders in order to recover, wherever possible, the costs of works 
carried out under the contracts. 

  

Page 22


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 A LONG-TERM REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE MODEL FOR HAMMERSMITH AND FULHAM

